Notice: This decisionmaybe fonnally revisedbeforeit is publishedir the Districtof ColumbiaRegister.Partiesshould
promptlynotifu this oflice ofany enorssothattheymayb€ conectedbeforepublishingthe decision.This notiw is not intelded
to providean opponunityfor a substantivechallengeto tbedecision,

Governmentof the District of Columbia
Public EmployeeRelationsBoard

In the Matterof:
Districtof Columbia
Metropolitan PoliceDepartment,
petitioner,
and

PERBCaseNo. 06-4-18
OpinionNo. 870

FraternalOrderof Police/Metropolitan
PoliceDepartment
LaborCommittee
(on behalfof StanleyBarker),
Respondent.

DECISION AND ORDER

Statement of the case:

The Districtof ColumbiaMetropolitanPoliceDepartment
("MPD" or,Agency',) filed an
Arbitration ReviewRequest("Request")in the above-captioned
matter. MPD seeksreview of
an arbitrationaward("Award") which rescindedthe terminationof StanleyBarker ("Grievant") a
bargainingunit member. MPD contendsthat the: (1) Arbitrator was without authority to grant
the Award; and (2) Award is contrary to law and public policy. The Fratemal Order of
Police/MetropolitanPolice Department Labor committee ("Fop" or 'union') opposesthe
Request.
The issuebeforethe Board is whether'1he awardon its faceis contraryto law andpublic
policy''or whether"the arbitratorwaswithoutor exceeded
hisor heriurisdiction..
.." D.c. code
(2001ed.)
$I -60s.02(6)
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il.

Discussion:

The circumstancesthat gave rise to this action occurredin the early morning hours of
April 5, 2002. The Grievant,assignedto the First District, wasoffduty anddriving his personal
vehicleon New York Avenue. "He maintained
he was on his way to a 'gentleman'sclub.'
While stoppedat the intersectionof New York and Florida Avenue,he was approachedby an
individual askingfor a ride hometo the 200 block of N Street,Northwest. He assertedthat he
believedthis individual was female. In fact, the individual was a male transvestiteprostitute,
andthe areais fiequentedby suchtypes." (Award at p. 2)
"The Grievantmaintainedthat he drove the individual (hereafterreferencedby the male
pronoun,or by his name,Kelvin Jackson)to the requestedblock becauseof the late hour andthe
unsafeneighborhood.when they arrived,the grievantpulled into an ally behindthe block, ashe
maintained,
at Mr. Jackson's
request."(Awardat p. 2)
While the Grievant's car was parkedin the alley, Officer Alec Corapinskiwas on routine
patrol in the areaand spottedthe car. He testifiedthat he noticed the two in the car apparently
engagedin sexualactivity. At this point, officer corapinskidid not yet know the identity of the
driver, or that he was a policeofficer. "officer corapinski [pointed]his spotlight[at] the car and
saw the front seatpassengerpick his headup from the areaof the driver's lap and beginwiping
his moutll while the driver removeda condomfrom his lap area." (Award at p. 2)
The driver then got out of his car and beganwalking toward Officer Corapinskiwhile
reachinginto his pocket. At this point, officer corapinskiorderedthe driver to get back in his
car and removehis hand from his pocket. Insteadof complying,the driver continuedtoward
hir4 whereuponOfficer Corapinskiorderedthe driver to placehis handson the hood ofthe car.
officer corapinski testified that he askedthe driver if he was a Police officer, and he replied
'T.lo." (See Award p.
at
3) Officer Corapinskiclaimedthat he becamefearful for his safety,
drew his gun and called for bacl,.rrp.when backupofficers arrived,'oneof them recogrizedthe
driver, who then identifiedhimselfasa police officer. (SeeAward at p. 3) The Grievantwas not
chargedwith a criminaloffenseandwasreleased.
Following an investigationof this incident, the Grievant was charged with conduct
unbecominga policeofficer andknowinglymakinganuntruthfulstaternent.(SeeAward at p. 3)
On April 3, 2003, MPD informedthe Grievantthat it was preparingan adverseaction
againstthe Grievant. The April 3'dnotice advisedthe Grievantthat ifhe desireda Departmental
hearing,onewouldbe scheduled
on May 22,2003.(SeeAwardat p. 5) On the samedayhe was
servedwith the notice of proposedadverseaction,April 3, 2003, the Grievantrequesteda
Departmentalhearing. He requestedand was granted a continuanceof the May 22, 2003
hearing,and the hearingwas convenedon June 19,2003. (SeeAward at p. 5) Additional
hearingswereconducted
on July22 andAugust6, 2003.
The hearing panel found the Grievant guilty and unanimouslyrecommendedthat the
Gdevantbe terminatedfrom the MPD. (SeeAward at p. l) On September16, 2003, MPD
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informed the Grievantof the fnal decisionto terminatehis anrployment,effective October 17,
2003. FOPappealed
the matterto the Chiefof Police. The ChiefofPolicedeniedthe grievance
andFOP invokedarbitrationpursuantto the parties'collectivebargainingagreementC,CBA').
At arbitrationFOP asserted
that MPD violatedArticle 12, Section6 of the parties'CBA
in that it did not issue its decisionwithin fifty-five (55) days of the date that the Grievant
requesteda hearing.(see Award at p. 5) Article 12, section6 ofthe parties'cBA providesin
pertinentpart that an ernployee"shall be given a written decisionand the reasonsthereforeno
laterthan . ' . 55 daysafterthedatethe employee
is notifiedin writing ofthe chargesor the date
the employeeelectsto have a departmentalhearing." (Award at p. 6) FOP argued that the
Grievantwasnotified of the chargeson April 3d, but wasnot servedwith the final decisionuntil
September16, 2003. (SeeAward at pgs.?-8) FoP claimedthat because
of this violationthe
terminationshouldbe rescinded. Also, FOP contendedthat the evidencedid not establishthe
Grievant'sguilt. (SeeAwardat pgs.5-6)
MPD counteredthat terminationwas appropriate.Also, MPD claimedthat it complied
with the fifty-five day rule. (SeeAward at p. 6) Finally,MpD assertedthat evenif a violation of
the fifty-five day rule occurred"the appropriateremedywould be to awardback pay, if any, that
thegrievantlostowingto thedelayin the issuance
ofthe decision."(Awardat p. 6).
In a Award issuedon May 15, 2006, Arbitrator StevenWolf concludedthat MpD
violatedArticle 12, Section6 of the parties'CBA when it failedto issuea written decision
within the fifty-five(55) day time limit. (SeeAward at p. 8) specifically,the Arbitratornoted
the followins:
The facts reveal . . .[that] [t]he hearingwas originally scheduled
for May 22,2003but was continuedat the grievant'srequest.The
hearing actually commencedon June 19, 2003. Thus, under
Aticle 12, Section6(a),the time limit was at that point extended
by twenty-eight(28) days. The hearingwas againconvenedon
Iuly 22,2003, an additionalthirty three (33) daysafter the first
hearingdate. A third hearingdate was needed,that date being
August6, 2003,extendingthe time limit an additionalfifteen (15)
days. Thereforg the total numberofdays by whichpostponements
or continuancesextendedthe 55-day time limit was seventy six
(76) days. Adding the three days actually consumedby the
hearingsmakesthe grand total sevanty-nine(79) days. If sevantynine(79) daysis addedto the'base" 55-daytime limit expiration
date of May 28,2003, that makes the date by which the
Department'swritten decisionwas due as August 15, 2003. In
fact,that decisionwas issuedon September
16,2003,which was
thirly-two (32) daysbeyondthe contractualdeadline[of August
15, 20031.. . . I am left, therefore,with the conclusionthat the
Department's
Sepember
16, 2003 FinalNoticeof AdverseAction
wasuntimelyfiled. (Awardat pgs.7-8)
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In light of the above, the Arbitrator rescindedthe termination and ordered that the
Grievantbe reinstatedwith f.rll backpay andbenefits.(SeeAward at p. 1I ).
MPD takesissuewith the Award. specifically,MpD arguesthat the: (l) Arbitrator was
without authorityto grant the Award and (2) Award is contraryto law and public policy. (see
Requestat p. 2).
In supportof this argument,
MPD statesthefollowing:
In the instantmatter,[the] Grievantwasservedwith the noticeof
adverseaction on April 3 , 2003 statingthat a hearingwas set for
May 22, 2003. On April 3, 2003,he respondedwith a letter
requestinga hearing,therebyconsentingto the hearingalreadyset
by th employer for May 22, 2003. Thereafter, [the] Grievant
requesteda postponementto June 19, Z0O3. The second
continuancewas to August 6, 2003, at which time the hearing
concluded. Accordingly, [the] Grievantoriginally electedto have
the hearingon May 22,2003. However,thetimebetweenMay 22,
2003,and August6, 2003was time duringwhich [the] Grievant
consented
to the continuances,
or time that was consumedby the
hearing and thus excluded from the 55 day requirementof the
CBA. . . Thus, the fifty-five (55) day period beganto run on
August 7, 2003, the day after the hearingwas completed,and
expiredon October4, 2003. (Request
at pgs.6-7)
In view ofthe above,MPD assertsthat the 'tecision of September
16,2003,was issued
within forty (40) daysof the hearingand was timely." (Requestat p. 7) Therefore,MpD
suggeststhat the Arbitrator's ruling that the Grievant did not waive the 55-day rule, is an
incorrectinterpretation
ofArticle 12,section6 ofthe parties'cBA. (SeeRequestaipgs. 5-7)
i+

we haveheld that "[b]y agreeingto submitthe settlementof [a] grievanceto arbitration,
the
Arbitrator'sinterpretation,
not the Board's, that the partieshave bargainedfor.,'
lisl

Association.
39 DCR 9628,slip op.N. 320at p. 2, PERBcaseNo. 9z-A-04(1992). In addition,
we have found that by submitting a matter to arbitratioL "the partiesagreeto be bound by the
Arbitrator's interpretationofthe parties' agreement.. . as well as his evidentiaryfindings and
conclusions'
. . " Id. Moreover,"[this] Boardwill not substitute
its own intemretationor that of
the Agencyfot that of the duly designatedarbitrator." District of ColumLiaDepartmentof
correctionsandIntemationalBrotherhoodof reamsters.Local Union246. 34 DcR re to5up
op, No, 157 arp.3, PERBcaseNo. 87-A-02(1987). In the presentcase,the partiessubmitted
their dispute to Arbitrator wolf.
Neither MpD's disagreementwittr the Arbitrator's
interpretationof Article 12, section6, nor MPD's disagreement
with the Arbitrator's findings
and conclusions,are groundsfor reversingthe Arbitrator's Award. SeeMpD and Fop/Mpb
Laborcommittee(onbehalfof KeithLvnn),slip op. No 845,PERBcaseNo. 05-A-01(2006).
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Also, MPD suggeststhat theplainlanguageof Article 12, Section6 of the parties,CBA
doesnot imposea penaltyfor noncompliance
with the 55-dayrule. Therefore,by imposinga
penaltywhere none was expresslystatedor intended,MPD assertsthat the Arbitrator addedto
andmodifiedthe parties'CBA. (SeeRequestat pgs.8-I 0)
MPD's arguments
are a repetitionof the positionsit presentedto the Arbitratorand its
ground for review only involvesa disagreement
with the arbitrator'sinterpretationof Article 12,
section6 of theparties'cBA. MPD merelyrequests
thatwe adoptits interyretation
andremedy
for its violationofthe above-referenced
provisionofthe CBA. Thiswe will not do.
In casesinvolving the same parties, we have previously consideredthe question of
whetheran arbitratorexceedshis authority whenhe rescindsa Grievant'sterminationfor MPD's
violationof Article 12, Section6 of the parties'cBA. In thosecaseswe rejectedthe same
argumentbeing madein the instantcaseand held that the Arbitrator was within his authorityto
rescinda Grievant'sterminationto remedyMPD's violationof the 55-dayrule. (see MpD and
FOP/MPDLaborCommittee(on behalfof JayHane),Slip Op. No 86l, PERBCaseNo. 06-A-02
(2007),
Slip Op. No
814,PERBcaseNo. 05-A-03(2006)andMPD andFoP/MPD Labor committee(on behalfof
AngelaFisher)Slip Op. No., PERB Case02-A-07,ffirmecl by JudgeKravtz of the Superior
Court in .MetropolitanPolice Dep't v. D.C. Public EmployeeRelationsBoard,0l-MpA-18
(September17, 2002), affirmedby District of columbia court of Appealsin Metropolitan
PoliceDep't v. D.C. PublicEmplo)'eeRelationsBoard.901 A.2d 784 (D.C. 2006). In additiorl
we havefound that an arbitratordoesnot exceedhis authorityby exercisinghis equitablepower,
unlessit is expresslyrestrictedby the parties' collective bargainingagreement.lSee,District of
columbia Metropolitan Police Deoartmentand Fraternal order of police/MpD Labor
Committee.39 DCR6232,Slip Op.No. 282,PERBCaseNo. 92-A-04(1992).
In the presentcase,MPD doesnot cite anyprovisionof the parties'cBA that limitsthe
Arbitrator'sequitable
power. Therefore,oncethe ArbitratorWolf concluded
that MPD violated
Article 12, Section6 of the parties'cBA, he alsohadthe authorityto determinethe appropriate
remedy. contrary to MPD's contentioq Arbitratorwolf did not add to or subtractfrom the
parties' cBA but merely usedhis equitablepower to formulatethe remedy,which in this case
wasrescindingthe Grievant'stermination.Thus,Arbitrator wolf actedwithin his authority.
As a secondbasisfor review,MPD clairnsthat the Award is on its facecontraryto law
andpublicpolicy. (SeeRequestat p. 2). For thereasons
discussed
below,we disagree.
The possibilityof overtumingan arbitrationdecisionon the basisof public policy is an
"extremelynarrow" exceptionto the rule that reviewingbodiesmust defer to an arbitrator's
ruling. "[T]he exceptionis designedto be narrowso as to limit potentiallyintrusivejudicial
review of arbitrationawardsunderthe guiseof publicpolicy." Americanpostal workers union.
AFL-CIOv. UnitedStatesPostalService,7S9
F.2d 1, 8 (D.C. Cir. 1986). A petitioner
must
' We notethat if

MPD hadciteda provisionof theparties'collectivebargaining
agreement
that limits theArbitrator'sequitablepower,thatlimitationwouldbe enforced.
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demonstratethat the arbitration award "compels" the violation of an explicit, well defined,
public policy groundedin law and or legal precedort. see, united PaperworkersInt'l union.
AFL-CIO v. Misco.Inc., 484 U.S. 29 (1987). Furthermore,
the petitioningpartyhasthe burden
to specify"applicablelaw and definitepublic policy that mandatesthat the Arbitrator arrive at a
differentresult." MPD andFOP/MPDLaborCommittee,
47 DCR 717, Slip Op.No. 633 at p. 2,
PERB CaseNo. 00-4-04 (2000). Also see,District of ColumbiaPublicSchoolsandAmerican
Federationof State.CountvandMunicioalEmplovees.
DistrictCouncil20. 34 DCR 3610, Slip
Op. No. 156at p. 6, PERB CaseNo. 86-A-05(1987). As the Court of Appealshasstated,we
must'hot be leadastrayby our own (or anyoneelse's)conceptof 'publicpolicy' no rnatterhow
tempting such a course might be in any particular factual setting." District of columbia
Department
of Corrections
v. Teamsters
UnionLocal246.54 A.2d319,325 (D.C. 1989).
In the presentcase,MPD assertsthat the Awmd is on its facecontraryto law andpublic
policy. Specifically,MPD arguesthat the Award violatesthe "prejudicialerror" rule specifiedin
D.C. Code $2-510(bX2001
ed.). (SeeRequestat p 7) We have previouslyconsideredand
rejectedthis argumentby statingthe following:
MPD relies on D.C. Code $2-510(b)which permitsa reviewing
court to apply the "prejudicialerror" rule. D.C. Code g25 l0(bx2001 ed.). However,the Arbitrator'sAwmd does not
compelthe violationof this sectionof the D.C. Code. MPD's
cited section is outside the ComprehensiveMerit PersonnelAct
('.CMPA) which govemsthis case. The CMPA itself has no
provision requiring or permitting this Board to apply the
"prejudicialerror"rule." See,D.C. Codeg 1-601(2001
ed.)et sea.
As such,the Award doesnot violateD.C. Code$2-510(b)or the
CMPAwhichdoesnot containa 'prejudicialerror"rule.
Additionally,MPD relies on Schapanskv
v. Deo't of Transo..
EAA' and Shaw v. Postal Servicer which apply a 'lrocedural
error" requirement regarding the Civil Service Reform Act
("CSnlt";4. MPD arguesthat only "harmfulproceduralerrorsmay
vitiatean agencyaction." 5 U.S.C.$7701(cX2XA).
. . . However,
the CSRA's "procedural error" requirernentis not applicableto
this case becausethis requirementappliesto federal employees
who are coveredby the CSRA andnot smployeesofthe District of
'zi35 F. zd,47i(Fed.cir. 1984).
3 69'lF.zdlo78 (Fed.cir. 1983).
4 u.s.c.

97701(c)(2XA).
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Columbia.5Hav'ingno applicationto employeesof the District of
Columbi4 section7701 cannotbe violated by the arbitrator's
Award, and thus, the Award is not contraryto Schapanshv.
Shaw.
or $7701(c)(2)(A)
ofthe Civil ServiceReformAct.
Furthermorg the Arbitrator had authorityto interpretthe parties"
Agreement, and thus the Board must view the Arbitrator's
interpretationof the contract as if the parties had includedthat
interpretationin their agreanent. See, EastemAssociatedCoal
Coro.v. UnitedMine Workersof America.Dist. 17,531 U.S. 57,
62 (2000). With no showingthat the Agreement,asinterpretedby
the Arbitrator, would run contrarTto D.C. Code g2-510(b),
Schapanskvand SIAI4 or section 7701(c)(2)(A)of the Civil
ServiceReform Act, MPD's argumentfails to provide a basisto
vacatethe Arbitrator'sAward.
(MPD and FOP/MPD Labor Committee(on behalf of Mizuel
Montanez),Slip Op. No 814at pgs.8-9, PERBCaseNo. 05-,{-03
(2006)).
In additioqMPD asserts
that evenif a violationof the 55-dayrule occurredit constituted
harmlesserror and that consistentwith a Superior Court ruling the termination should be
(SeeRequestat p. 7) In supportof its position,MPD citesJudgeAbrecht'sdecision
sustained.
in MetropolitanPoliceDepartmentv. Districtof ColumbiaPublicEnploveeRelationsBoard.
01-MPA-19(September
10,2002). We havepreviouslyconsidered
andrejectedthis argument.
In MetropolitanPoliceDep't v. D.C. PublicEmployeeRelationsBoard.901 A.2d 784 (D.C.
2006) MPD appealedour determinationthat the 'harmlesserror rule" was not applicablein
casessuchas the one currentlybeforethe Board. The District of ColumbiaCourt of Appeals
rejectedMPD's argumentthat a violationof the CBA's 55-dayrule wassubjectto the'harmless
errorrule" by statingthe following:
The Comprehensive
Merit Personnel
Act (CMPA),D.C. Codeg 1617.01 et seq.. (2001), regulates public employee labormanagementrelations in the District of Columbi4 and, as MPD
concedes,
the CMPA containsno provisionrequiringharmful(or
harrnless)error analysisbeforereversalof erroneousagencyaction
is permitted. Neither do PERB's rules imposesuch a review
standardon itself or on arbitratorsacting underits supervision.
MPD points out that had Officer Fisher, instead of electing
arbitrationwith the sanctionof the FOP, chosento appealher
t 5 U.S.C.
$7701is not includedamongtheprovisionslistedin D.C. Codeg1-632.02and
thusdoesnot applyto employees
of theDistrictof Columbia.See Newsomev. Districtof
(D.C.
Columbia,859A.2d630,633
2O04)(provisions
of theCSRAnot listedin D.C.Codeg1632.02do not applyto employees
of theDistrictof Columbiahiredprior to or aftertheeffective
dateof the CMPA).
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dischargeto the Office of EmployeeAppeals(OEA), see D.C.
Code g l-606.02, she would have been met with OEA's rule
barring reversal of an agancyaction "for error ,
if the agency
candemonstratethat the error washarmless,"6 DCMR E 632.4,46
D.C. Reg.9318-19;andMPD, againcitingCornelius,warnsof the
forum-shoppingand inconsistencyin decisionsthat could result if
PERB (and arbitrators)were not held to the samestandard. ,See
Cornelius,472 U.S. at 662 ("If respondents'
interpretationof the
harmful-errorrule as applied in the arbitral context were to be
sustained,an ernployeewith a claim . . . would tend to selectthe
forum - - the grievanceandarbitrationprocedures- - that treatshis
claimmore favorably. The result would be the very inconsistency
andforum shoppingthat Congresssoughtto avoid."). But, asthe
quotation from Corneliusdemonstrates,Congtessmade its intent
to avoidtheseevils "clear" in the Civil ServiceReform Act. .Id. at
661 ("Adoptionof respondents'
interpretation.. . would directly
contravenethis clearcongressional
intent.") SinceMPD can point
to no similar expressionof legislativeintent here, it cannotclaim a
misinterpretationof law by the arbitratorthat was apparent,bn its
face."901A.2d784,'787b
we find that MPD hasnot cited any specificlaw or public policy that was violatedby the
Arbitrator's Award. MPD had the burden to specify "applicablelaw and public policy that
mandatesthat the Arbitrator arriveat a differentresult." MPD andFOP/I\4PDLabor Committee.
47 DCR 717, Slip Op No. 633 at p. 2, PERB CaseNo. 00-A-04(2000). In the presentcase,
MPD failedto do so.
In view of the above,we find no merit to MPD's arguments. Also, we find that the
Arbitrator's conclusionsare basedon a thoroughanalysisand cannotbe said to be clearly
erroneous,contfaryto law or public policy, or in excessofhis authorityunderthe parties' cBA.
Therefore,no statutorybasisexistsfor settingasidethe Awmd.

6TheCourtof Appeals
alsorejectedMPD's argumentthatthetime limit imposedon the
agencyby Article 12,Section6 of theCBA is directory,ratherthanmandatory.
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ORDER
IT IS HEREBY ORDEREDTHAT:
1. TheMetropolitanPoliceDepartment's
ArbitrationReviewRequestis denied.
2. Pursuantto BoardRule559.1,thisDecisionandOrderis finaluponissuance.
BY ORDER OF TIIE PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RELATIONS BOARI)
Washington,
D.C.
February12,2007
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